**RECEIVED**

**Apr 22 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA**

**In The Court of Appeals**

**Appeal from Administrative Law Court**

**S. Phillip Lenski, Administrative Law Judge**

---

**Case No. 2024-002073**

---

**Anthony Crosby,**

**Appellant,**

**v.**

**South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy,**

**Respondent.**

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

**JOHN O'LEARY**  
**Attorney for Appellant**  
**714 Calhoun Street**  
**Columbia, SC 29201**  
**Phone: (803) 779-5556**  
**Oleary\_email@yahoo.com**

**

### **ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. The ALJ Committed Reversible Error by adopting the LETC's findings and conclusions as a matter of law and fact that the LETC could find Mr. Crosby guilty of *willful* fraud and deceit within the meaning of misconduct under S.C. Code Ann. §23-23-150(A)(3)(j), by merely showing that he was duplicating unnecessary "Contact Only" paperwork for the same traffic stops and for failing to follow an allegedly customary practice of printing out all citations and handing them to the drivers, even though the information in the documents and in the SmartCOP software was true, was not contrary to law, and fell within officer discretion .
2. The ALJ and LETC committed reversible error, abused its discretion and acted arbitrarily and capriciously by ignoring the evidence that the Appellant's superior, Captain Brown, directed increased contact activity documentation. .
3. The ALJ erred by affirming, without even addressing the issues concerning, the LETC's arbitrary and capricious treatment of the Appellant , and its commission of fundamental errors in its hearing procedures which substantially impacted the Appellant's rights,

including applying law enforcement decertification in all these misconduct cases, regardless of the circumstances.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

After conducting an audit of the Appellant's Troop 3 enforcement activities' data in 2022 and 2023 monthly reports, the South Carolina Highway Patrol noted some anomalies for some officers which needed investigation, including for the Appellant. (ROA p.36-37.) The Highway Patrol referred the matter to Lieutenant ("Lt.") Reap, an officer in the Office of Professional Responsibility within the South Carolina Department of Public Safety ("Department"). The Highway Patrol raised the concern that Mr. Crosby had written an unusually high number of "contact only" warnings and that these warnings were not printed out. The Highway Patrol expressed concern that Mr. Crosby was fraudulently inflating the numbers to gain recognition as high activity performer. (ROA, p.39.)

After Lt. Reap finished his investigation, he personally opined that the Appellant was falsely inflating enforcement activity numbers by submitting an inordinate number of "contact only" warnings and not printing them out. (ROA p. 401, line. 4-11) On July 3, 2023, the Department issued a Personnel Change in Status Report (Notification of Separation due to certification misconduct as defined in S.C. Code Ann. 23-23-150(A)(3)(j)). This initial PCS report alleged that Mr. Crosby was separated due to having willfully provided false, misleading, incomplete, deceitful or incorrect information on a document, record, report or form, except when required by departmental policy or by the laws of the state. On October 25, 2023, the Department amended the PCS to additionally allege that Mr. Crosby was separated due to willfully providing false, misleading, incomplete, or incorrect statements to a law enforcement officer, a law enforcement agency, or a representative of the agency, except when required by departmental

policy or by the laws of the state. (ROA p.33, line 3-6.) The factual allegations related to Mr. Crosby's Public Contract/warnings documentation between April 2022 and March 2023. (ROA p. 36-37.)

This matter was referred to the South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy, ("the Academy"), for review, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. 23-23-80. Mr. Crosby timely requested a contested case hearing to challenge the misconduct charges. The Academy appointed the honorable LETC attorney Timothy Plunkett to sit as the hearing officer, scheduled for hearing on November 7, 2023. (ROA p. 10-12.) At the hearing, the following documentation was accepted into evidence:

**Council Exhibit, "Exh.", 1** – Notice of Misconduct Allegation; Personnel Change in Status Report (Notification of Separation Due to Misconduct) (July 3, 2023); Request for Contested Case Hearing; Notice of Contested Hearing

**Council Exh. 2** – Personnel Change in Status Report (Notification of Separation Due to Misconduct) (October 25, 2023)

**State's Exhibit 1-** Blank Uniform Traffic Ticket; blank Public Contact/ Warning

**State's Exhibit 2-** South Carolina Department of Public Safety Policy- "Use of Individual Discretion"

**State's Exhibit 3-** Roster for Post D; "Trooper Monthly Presentation"

**State's Exhibit 4-** Roster for September 2022, January 2023, and February 2023

**State's Exhibit 5-** Recordings of Trooper Crosby interview and follow-up interview

**State's Exhibit 6-** "Public Contact/ Warning/ Nature of Warning" list

**State's Exhibit 7-** Trooper Crosby's body worn camera footage

**State's Exhibit 8-** "South Carolina Traffic Collision Report Form" in reference to 20223084

**State's Exhibit 9-** "Uniform Traffic Ticket" in reference to "Ticket # 20232351224790" and {"Ticket # 20232351224791" , "Public Contact/ Warning" in reference to "PCW-B739937"

**State's Exhibit 10-** "Public Contact/ Warning" in reference to "PCW-B740696", "PCW-B740697" JPCW-B740695"

**State's Exhibit 11-** "South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles Notice Requirement" in reference to Carlton Revan Plumley, Valdion Scottie Keith, and Jesse Christopher Watson dated 0303-2023

**State's Exhibit 12-** Summary of citations March 3, 2023

**State's Exhibit 13-** "Uniform Traffic Ticket" in reference to "Ticket # 20222351190010"; "Public Contact/ Warning" in reference to <sup>U</sup> PCW-B647619" and "PCW-B649954" and SmartCOP screenshots

**State's Exhibit 14-** "Uniform Traffic Ticket" in reference to "Ticket # 20222351190009", "PublicContact/ Warning" in reference to "PCW-B647618" and "PCW-B649953" and SmartCOP screenshots

**State's Exhibit 15-** "Uniform Traffic Ticket" in reference to "Ticket # 20222351189087<sup>1</sup>"; "Public Contact/Warning" in reference to "PCW-B647617 'I and 'I PCW-B647631" and SmartCOP screenshots

**State's Exhibit 16-** Summary of citations for October 19-20 and 30, 2022

**State's Exhibit 17-** Screenshot of citations from Mobile Form Screen for July 27, 2022

**State's Exhibit 18-** Screenshot of public contacts/ warnings from Mobile Form Screen for July 27, 2022

**State's Exhibit 19-** Summary of citations for July 27, 2022

**State's Exhibit 20-** "Uniform Traffic Ticket" in reference to "Ticket # 20222351228589" and "Ticket

# 20222351228590"; "Public Contact/Warning" in reference to "PCW-B676575 and PCWB676576"

**State's Exhibit 21-** "Uniform Traffic Ticket" in reference to "Ticket # 20222351148351" and "Ticket

# 20222351148352 , "Public Contact/Warning" in reference to "PCW-B619268" and "PCWB619295'I

**Respondent's Exhibit 1-** Letter to Anthony Crosby from Captain Kevin Brown

At the hearing, the Hon. Plunkett also heard testimony from the following individuals:

1. Lt. Russell Thompson, South Carolina Dept. of Public Safety (included rebuttal)
2. Lt. James Reap, South Carolina Dept. of Public Safety (included rebuttal)
3. Trp. Kevin Michael Renneker, South Carolina Dept. of Public Safety
4. Anthony David Crosby, Jr.

After hearing testimony and reviewing the numerous exhibits, the Hon. Plunkett issued his decision on January 5, 2024. As the hearing officer, the Hon. Plunkett recommended that Mr. Crosby be found guilty of misconduct under S.C. Code Ann. 32-23-151(A)(3)(I) and (K). On January 24, 2024, Mr. Crosby, through the undersigned counsel, filed a motion opposing adoption of the hearing officer's recommendation. (ROA pp. 31-32.)

After reviewing the hearing officer's transcript, exhibits, motions and the Hearing Officer's Recommendation (HOR), the South Carolina Law Enforcement Training Council ("LETC") met to discuss the case and listen to oral arguments on March 18, 2024. (ROA p. 574-637.) The LETC adopted the HOR's recommendation in total finding that Mr. Crosby engaged in misconduct as alleged and voted to permanently deny a law enforcement certification to Mr. Crosby in South Carolina on April 23, 2024. (ROA p. 635, L. 10-25) (ROA p. 336 L.1-20) On May 22, 2024, Mr. Crosby filed a Notice of Appeal with the Administrative Law Court requesting that the court reverse the LETC's decision and grant Mr. Crosby law enforcement recertification. (ROA p.731). On November 6, 2024, the Hon. S. Phillip Lenski summarily adopted the LETC's factual findings and conclusions, and affirmed the LETC's decision to deny recertification. The Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal from Judge Lenski's decision to this court on November 26, 2024.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Mr. Crosby is a South Carolinian native who graduated from Charleston's Citadel with high academic honors and had been a Company C. Commander. (ROA p.479, line 18-20, p.488 line 25, p.489 line1, p.712 line 19-21.) Up until the recent events, Mr. Crosby had been employed by the Highway Patrol for 4 years. He was certified through the Academy and was an active member of the Department. Mr. Crosby was never known as someone who tried to shirk responsibilities or try to find the easy way to gain recognition or obtain awards. In fact, even those who testified in the hearings below, could not deny the fact that Mr. Crosby was such a hard worker that his productivity, even if there were no data lists, far exceeded the average officer. (ROA p. 16, line 16-17, p.313 line 5-13, p.536 line 7-8.) Mr. Crosby worked extra shifts and long hours. (ROA p. 488 line 17-24) Mr. Crosby had never before been disciplined or even counselled. He did not even miss a workday except when he was sick with Covid-19. (ROA p. 449 line 15-21.) Not one person below had ever known him to be untrustworthy or dishonest. (ROA p. 201-2, line 10.) No one

ever testified or presented any evidence that Mr. Crosby would not take on any task he was asked to do. Mr. Crosby plainly loved being an officer and worked hard to be a good one. In short, Mr. Crosby did not need a "bribe" to do his job...he was already performing exceptionally. This above average productivity won him the reward of an unmarked vehicle, not any deception or lies. (See Captain Brown Commendation letter, ROA p. 708.)

Notably, tickets and public contact notice substantially decreased during Covid-19. Command may have sensed a general lack of laziness among some of the troopers in 2022, especially after working under a long period of restricted and softer enforcement and activity rules from the COVID-19 pandemic period. (ROA p.17-23, p.657.) Accordingly, Captain Brown instructed Troop 3 members that they needed to make sure to document and increase their public contacts: "We need to do a better job of making sure that we do document those individuals that we are out with." (ROA p. 487 lines 22-25.) Such a directive could invite some unproductive or lazy officers to lie and cheat to make it seem like they are working hard, and escape any discipline—*if there was no review or oversight*.

However, enforcement activity data had oversight. (ROA p. 505.) Command staff have monthly meetings to discuss the enforcement activity data for their troops to discern the productivity of those officers. "Lt. Thompson testified that troopers' activity levels were evaluated by looking at tickets, warnings, DUI arrests, collision reports produced, and total number of traffic stops conducted." (ROA p. 36, p.657.)

Critically, the Command generally recognized that data review alone can be misleading because numbers cannot paint the whole picture, or tell the "right picture", of an officer's official activities. (ROA, p. 283 lines 24-25) The data is only "snippets of activity accountability". (ROA, p. 284, lines13-14) This is why Lt. Thompson testified that the Command reviews the numbers

and discusses any possible individual circumstances of the troopers. However, this oversight means that any officer subterfuge cannot be hidden. Command Staff can inspect all video footage of each officer's traffic stop. Public contacts are electronically stored in Department's SmartCOP software and multiple documents for the same incident or stop are tracked under the same case number. Most critically, a trooper has discretion in most situations to either write a ticket or warning, which are both tallied in the same manner for the purpose of the activity report the trooper generates. "Both are generally referred to as a 'contact' for the purpose of the activity report." (ROA, p. 28, lines 20-21) Finally, the software links all tickets, warnings, other documents, and videos from the same incident together so they can be specifically tracked . (ROA p. 274 lines 17-25, p. 275 lines 1-18.)

After one of Lt. Thompson's monthly reviews with Command, the numbers produced some anomalies that could not be easily explained so they conducted a more comprehensive review of "contact only" numbers. This review raised concerns because public contact numbers for some officers did not match up with total stops and collisions. (ROA, p. 291 lines 12-18) After the audit of Troop 3, Lt. Thompson discovered that one officer was falsifying contact forms. There also seemed to be a trend in the state so the Department sought investigations of several officers, including Mr. Crosby. Thus, the Department referred the matter to Lt. Reap, from the Office of Professional Responsibility for investigation. (ROA p.291 line 21-25, p.292 lines 1-3)

Without asking Mr. Crosby about the discrepancies directly, in March 2023, Lt. Reap was asked to investigate the alleged abnormally high number of "contact only" of Mr. Crosby and the fact that many of these warnings were not printed out. The Department also raised concerns about how he dealt with forms during collision investigations. (ROA p. 40 lines 15-16) In short, Lt Reap and Lt. Thompson found Mr. Crosby's action to be "inappropriate" or unusual, (primarily based on

duplication of information), even though his form practice was not contrary to state law. (ROA p. 38 lines 41-42, p. 275-276, p. 313 lines 411-420)

As part of this investigation Mr. Reap interviewed Mr. Crosby twice, one time in April and another time in May 2023. Based on his pre-determined conclusions above., Lt. Reap began the first interview telling Mr. Crosby that he would not tolerate any of Mr. Crosby's excuses for his behavior. (ROA 272.) Lt. Reap also reviewed Mr. Crosby's SmartCOP data for the period from April 2022 through May 2023. (ROA p. 263-266). Lt. Reap determined Mr. Crosby generated 398 "contact only" warnings between April 2022 and March 3, 2023, which appeared much higher than the other officers (only about 76 total). Lt. Thompson stated that while the policy did not prohibit officers from issuing warnings when the contact was otherwise recorded, it was not common practice to do so. (ROA p. 419-423.) Regardless, Lt Thompson agreed that Mr. Crosby was a "good trooper" and a hard worker. (ROA p. 16, p. 317, p.536.) Furthermore, throughout the interview process, Mr. Crosby openly discussed how he conducted his traffic stops and generated or issued "contact only" forms even when there were violations of the law. (ROA p. 353.) Mr. Crosby reasonably explained that he strongly desired to be an efficient, but also a thorough law enforcement officer. In specific reference to the contact documentation, Mr. Crosby testified that he was acting directly in response to his Captain Brown's directive to make sure to conduct, and document, more traffic stops.

Lt Reap then focused his investigation on Mr. Crosby's traffic collision stops in February and March 2023 by reviewing bodycam video footage and documents. During these collision investigations, Mr. Crosby would issue contact only warnings to all drivers, even though the demographic information were already stored on FR-10. Mr. Crosby especially noted his concerns during collision investigations was to move the questioning along so that the drivers can

quickly be on their way , and so that he can clear the road. (ROA p. 455 line 23-25) He was obviously thinking about people, not forms. This is precisely why troopers must be given some discretion as they are the ones on the scene. Important to issue most important citations at the scene and contact warnings to all drivers. Should not have to worry about "over-contacting". (ROA p.458 lines 6-7) This becomes especially important when the troop is short staffed. (ROA p.456)

For example, Lt. Reap testified that the March 3, 2023 collision involved four drivers, Karr, Plumley, Watson, and Keith. Crosby determined Watson was at fault and issued him two citations, one for driving on the wrong side of the road and another for being uninsured. Additionally, Crosby generated a "contact only" warning for Watson. Crosby also issued warnings for Karr, Plumley, and Keith. Keith and Karr had "contact only" warnings generated in their names. Plumley was the subject of a "contact only/ vehicle license violation/ other (insurance card)" warning. Reap recalled Crosby had first addressed Karr, who provided Crosby with all of the necessary documents. Crosby was advised by Keith that his insurance documentation was stored on his cell phone. In an effort to move things along, Mr. Crosby advised Keith that he would look it up himself. (ROA p359 line 22-23) Plumley was able to provide Crosby with a driver's license but advised Crosby that the vehicle belonged to his employer. Upon hearing this Crosby ended the conversation as it pertained to providing insurance documentation. (ROA p. 360 lines 10-19)

Mr. Crosby printed and issued the two citations and an FR-IO to Watson and FR-10s for the other three parties. Mr. Crosby testified that it was just his normal practice to generate contact forms for all the drivers in the collision. (ROA p. 353 lines 6-18) The four warnings Crosby generated were not printed, issued to, nor discussed with any of the parties subject to those

warnings. Lt. Reap opined that Mr. Crosby's practice of generating contact only warnings in this case was inappropriate since it duplicated the information on the FR-10. Lt. Reap determined that Mr. Cosby similarly conducted a collision investigation the month before in February 2023. However, again, Lt. Reap could not present any statute or written policy which was violated by Mr. Crosby's practice.

Lt. Reap mentioned a couple of other anomalies out of the hundreds of Mr. Crosby's traffic stops in the review period. (ROA p.373-379.) Mr. Crosby reportedly entered duplicate no contact only warning form days later after the initial stops. However, the SmartCOP software would have logged them in the same case or incident number for the stop, when Mr. Crosby had engaged with the individual. Mr. Crosby asserted that this must have been generated somehow by mistake. Computer glitches certainly happen in today's high-tech world, especially when programs automatically generate another document and information after inputting data into the system. Mr. Crosby indicated that a contact form is generated soon after he completed a ticket with the exact information already inputted. (ROA p. 461 line 25, 462 line 1-15) Conversely, Lt. Reap acknowledged that he was not a "computer" person but merely thought that it took too many steps to generate the form to conclude there was a mistake. (ROA p. 435 line 15) Regardless, the Department presented no technical expert to discuss the SmartCOP software program.

Lastly, Lt. Reap pointed to another day as problematic when Mr. Crosby issued 8 traffic citations in the morning of the shift but generated contact only forms at the end of the shift for those same individuals. According to Lt. Reap, the warnings should always be generated at the time of the stop, regardless of incident conditions or the officer's volume of activities that day. This is directly contrary to department policy and Lt. Reap's testimony that documentation transmission at the end of a shift was acceptable. (ROA p. 432 line 1-2) A later transmission of

an identical document does not change the accuracy of the document. Lt. Thompson also testified that troopers can transmit documents later. In addition, it fails to recognize that a transmission time only reflects the time of transmission but does not change the date, time, and details of the stop. All of that information would be identified by the citation/case number of the incident.

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