RECEIVED

Jul 31 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of  
Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATION LAW COURT

---

Hon. S. Phillip Lenski, Administrative Law Judge

---

Case No. 2024-002073

---

Anthony Crosby, Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy, Respondent.

---

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

---

April 30, 2025

James M. Fennell  
General Counsel  
SC Criminal Justice Academy  
5400 Broad River Road  
Columbia, SC 29210  
Bar # 72576  
[jfennell@sccja.sc.gov](mailto:jfennell@sccja.sc.gov)  
803-896-7722

**

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

The standard to be applied by the reviewing court is that of substantial evidence. A decision is supported by substantial evidence when the record as a whole allows reasonable minds to reach the same conclusion as the agency. Friends of the Earth v. Pub. Serv.Comm'n of SC., 387 S.C. 360, 366, 692 S.E.2d 910, 913 (2010). The fact that the record, when considered as a whole, presents the possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent the agency's findings from being supported by substantial evidence. Waters v. S.C. Land Res. Conservation Comm'n, 321 S.C. 219, 226, 467 S.E.2d 913, 977 (1996). The evidence should not be “viewed blindly from one side of the case.” Myers v. S.C. Dept. of HHS, 418 S.C. 608, 616, 795 S.E.2d 301, 305 (Ct. App. 2016) When applying the substantial evidence rule, the factual findings of the administrative agency are presumed to be correct. Rodney v. Michelin Tire Co., 320 S.C. 515, 519, 466 S.E.2d 357, 359 (1996). In applying the substantial evidence rule, when “determining whether the record contains substantial evidence to support an administrative agency’s findings, [the appellate court] cannot substitute its judgment on the weight of the evidence for that of the agency.” Myers, 418 S.C. at 615 – 616, 795 S.E.2d at 305.

Furthermore, the reviewing court is prohibited from substituting its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. Grant v. S.C. Coastal Council, 319 S.C. 348, 353, 461 S.E.2d 388, 391 (1995). “[A] reviewing court will not overturn a finding of fact by an administrative agency 'unless there is no reasonable probability that the facts could be as related by a witness upon whose testimony the finding was based.'" Sea Pines Ass'n for Prot. of Wildlife, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Natural Res., 345 S.C. 594, 603-04, 550 S.E.2d 287, 292 (2001) (quoting Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 136, 276 S.E.2d 304, 307 (1981)). Finally, the party challenging an agency action has the burden of proving convincingly that the agency's decision is unsupported by substantial evidence. Waters, 321 S.C. at 226, 467 S.E.2d at 917.

## ARGUMENT

### I. THERE IS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE ALC'S FINAL AGENCY DECISION.<sup>2</sup>

There is substantial evidence to support the LETC's conclusion Appellant intentionally provided false information to deceive by generating and transmitting contact only warnings. An agency is given deference to its interpretation of a statute unless the interpretation goes against the plain meaning of the statute. Brown v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 354 S.C. 436, 440 581 S.E.2d 836, 838 (2003). South Carolina Code section 56-5-6560 provides, "anytime a motor vehicle is stopped by an Officer without a citation being issued or an arrest made, the officer shall complete a public contact/ warning form." The statute speaks to instances when a public contact/ warning must be completed by the officer. The South Carolina Highway Patrol (Agency) was tasked with creating the form and promulgating the rules to enforce the statute.

While it is true the statute does not mention anything about issuing the public contact/ warnings to the driver, it was required by the agency. The purpose of the statute is to capture demographic information to ensure a specific demographic was not targeted and to track any instances of selective law enforcement of certain charges. (R. p. 412). The agency had additional requirements of troopers and measured a trooper's performance using a variety of metrics including the number of "contact only" warnings issued by a trooper. Appellant

---

<sup>2</sup> Respondent will address Appellant's arguments I and II in this section.

created “contact only” warnings even when a ticket was given to the driver, FR-10 forms were completed, generated the contact only warnings hours after an interaction was completed, and in two cases created two additional contact-only warnings 10-days after an encounter with drivers. Out of the 911 public contact warnings generated and transmitted by Appellant, only 349 of them were given to the driver. (R. p. 604) These forms captured the same information, if not more, than the contact only warning forms. Completing the contact only warnings in that manner was deceptive because it made Appellant appear more productive to the agency. The use of the form in the instances raised by the agency was also a mischaracterization of the interaction. Appellant did not only have contact with the individuals but issued tickets and responded to the location because of a traffic collision. Appellant’s witness, Renneker, testified he was trained to issue public contact/ warning forms to the person.

Appellant acted willfully and with the intent to deceive the agency. The term “willful” may be defined as follows:

willful adj. (13c) Voluntary and intentional, but not necessarily malicious. A voluntary act becomes willful, in law, only when it involves conscious wrong or evil purpose on the part of the actor, or at least inexcusable carelessness, whether the act is right or wrong... [See, Black’s Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019)]

Appellant received benefits from his high performance as determined by the agency. Appellant received credit for contact only warnings and credit for issuing tickets or handling collisions stemming from the same incident. It was reasonable for the LETC to conclude

Appellant issued “contact only” in situations where a ticket or citation was already issued to inflate his activity numbers. Appellant’s decision not to issue the contact only warnings to the drivers strengthens the LETC’s conclusion.

Appellant’s method of gathering contact only warnings was not in conformity with the practices of Troop 3. Nothing suggests a directive was given to complete contact only warnings in the manner by Appellant. Furthermore, Appellant’s numbers were much higher than many other troopers which could be attributed to the method he used to generate contact only warnings. If the purpose of the form is to track demographic information than the objective is done when a person is issued a citation or given a FR- 10 form. There is no logical reason to complete a public contact after the issuance of either of those forms.

Departmental policy 300.21 allow troopers to use discretion when executing their duties and responsibilities, however, the policy also provides the discretion given is not meant to disregard SCDPS policy or established procedure. (State’s Exhibit 2) Renneker, who was in the same troop, worked the same days, and was trained by the same officer, testified he was taught to print and issue the warnings to the driver. (R. pp. 438-439; pp. 444-445). Appellant disregarded agency policy by not issuing the contact only warnings to drivers. Appellant’s failure to issue the public contact warnings combined with the method used to created them supports the LETC’s final agency decision.

Based on the above, substantial evidence exists to support the LETC’s final agency decision. Appellant received benefits such as an unmarked vehicle, awards, and praise from peers because he was identified as a high performer. However, the manner in which

Appellant generated contact only warnings was improper and done to inflate his productivity.

**II. THE LETC AND HEARING OFFICER DID NOT ACT ARBITRARILY AND CAPRICIOUSLY, ABUSE ITS DISCRETION, OR COMMIT FUNDAMENTAL ERRORS IN HEARING PROCEDURES.**

The LETC did not act arbitrarily and capriciously finding Appellant intended to deceive when he created “contact only” warnings when a ticket was issued, Crosby responded to a collision, or generated a contact only warning after the encounter. A decision is considered arbitrary and capricious if “it is without a rational basis, is based alone on one's will and not upon any course of reasoning and exercise of judgment, is made at pleasure, without adequate determining principles, or is governed by no fixed rules or standards.” Deese v. State Bd. of Dentistry, 286 S.C. 182, 184–85, 332 S.E.2d 539, 541 (Ct.App.1985). A decision is also arbitrary and capricious if it is not supported by competent evidence. Wyndham Enterprises, LLC v. City of N. Augusta, 401 S.C. 144, 150, 735 S.E.2d 659, 662 (Ct. App. 2012). Lt. Reap testified the transmission of the information is fine as long as the officer transmits the information before the end of the shift. However, generating the warning hours or days after the encounter is improper and does not serve a purpose.

Appellant had the opportunity to speak before the LETC. (R.p. 584-634) Members of the LETC asked questions about the system and asked Crosby if the information in the FR- 10 forms and tickets would provide the same demographics as the “contact only” warnings. (R. p. 634) For the aforementioned reasons the LETC did not act arbitrarily or capriciously in reaching a decision.

**A. Lt. Reap did not need to be classified as an expert.**

Lt. Reaper testified to matters within his personal knowledge. Reaper was a trooper with highway patrol before working in the Office of Professional Responsibility. Reaper's testimony explained what was on the documents such as when contacts were generated, transmitted, and duplicated. What conclusions to draw from the information was based on the testimony and exhibits in the record. Even if Reaper should have been qualified as an expert witness, allowing him to testify to the Smartcop system was harmless error. The documents show the date, time, and number of contact only warnings generated by Crosby.

**B. The Law Enforcement Training Council properly denied the motion for remand to reopen the record by Appellant.**

During the meeting, Appellant moved for remand of the hearing to allow additional evidence into the Record. The LETC denied the motion. It was within the LETC's discretion to reopen the record to allow for additional evidence. Wright v. Strickland, 306 S.C. 187, 188, 410 S.E.2d 596, 597 (Ct. App. 1991)(A trial judge's decision not to reopen a case for additional testimony is a matter within his or her sound discretion, and the decision will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion). Appellant was aware the allegation of misconduct involved his contact only warning numbers and had the spreadsheets before the contested case hearing (R. p. 590-591). Appellant could have presented the evidence at the contested case hearing. Furthermore, there is nothing to suggest the spreadsheets would have changed the outcome of the case. Therefore, Appellant's request for remand to reopen the record was properly denied by LETC.

**C. An abuse of discretion did not occur when Lt. Reap and Lt. Thompson were allowed to testify as rebuttal witnesses even though they were not sequestered after their initial testimony.**

Lt. Reap and Lt. Thompson were recalled after Crosby's testimony. R. pp. 341-254; pp. 355-359) They remained in the hearing room after their initial testimony and heard the entirety of Crosby's testimony. The sequestration of witnesses is within the discretion of the hearing officer. State v. Huckabee, 388 S.C. 232, 241, 694 S.E.2d 781, 785 (Ct. App. 2010) (A party is not entitled to the sequestration of witnesses as a matter of right). No abuse of discretion occurred when the hearing officer allowed Lt. Reap and Lt. Thompson to testify after their initial testimony.

**III. APPELLANT RAISED AN ISSUE FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL, THEREFORE IT WAS NOT PRESERVED FOR THIS APPEAL.**

On page 32 of Appellant's initial brief, he argued that "The LETC erred, acted arbitrarily and capriciously and abused its discretion, by failing to even consider any other discipline besides denial of law enforcement certification and termination regardless of the circumstances of this case.

This issue was not preserved for appeal. "It is well-settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review." Staubes v. City of Folly Beach, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000) Additionally, it "is well settled that a constitutional question not raised or passed upon in the lower court cannot be raised for the first time on appeal." Eagerton v.

Eagerton, 285 S.C. 90, 96, 217 S.E.2d 146, 148 (1975); Grant v. S.C. Coastal Council, 319 S.C. 348, 356, 461 S.E.2d 388, 392 (1995) (“This appeal is Grant’s first mention of any deprivation of due process and, therefore, this issue is not preserved.”)

Appellant did not raise this issue: in his Motion in Opposition to the Hearing Officer’s Recommendation dated January 24, 2024; to LETC during oral argument; or in his appeal to the ALC. (R. pp. 248 – 282) Appellant had numerous occasions to raise this issue, but is doing so only now. Clearly, this issue has not been preserved and this Court must dismiss Appellant’s new argument.

Alternatively, South Carolina Code Ann. Regs. 37-25(B) states that LETC “In considering whether to deny certification based on misconduct, the Council may consider the seriousness, the remoteness in time and any mitigating circumstances surrounding the act or omission constituting or alleged to constitute misconduct.” (emphasis added)

“The use of the word ‘may’ signifies permission and generally means that the action spoken of is optional or discretionary unless it appears to require that it be given any other meaning in the present statute.” State v. Wilson, 274 S.C. 352, 356, 264 S.E.2d 414, 416 (1980). “The term ‘shall’ in a statute means that the action is mandatory.” Johnston v. S.C. Dept. of LLR, 365 S.C. 293, 296, 617 S.E.2d 363, 364 (2005)

Appellant is attempting to impose a mandatory duty on LETC to consider mitigating evidence, where LETC has the discretion to determine whether to consider mitigating evidence.

Based upon the evidence adduced at Appellant’s hearing and for the reasons herein stated, that Appellant committed misconduct has been established by substantial evidence.

Further, Appellant did not produce any credible evidence of circumstances that would serve to mitigate his behavior in this matter and he has failed to meet his burden of proving convincingly that LETC should have been required to consider any such mitigating circumstances even had he produced them, which he did not, or that LETC's Final Agency decision in this matter could in any way be considered to have been arbitrary, capricious, or that it manifested an abuse of discretion.

**IV. APPELLANT FAILED TO FOLLOW RULE 40(B), SCALC  
THEREFORE DID NOT PROPERLY PERFECT HIS APPEAL.**

Rules 33 – 41, SCALC govern cases on appeal to the ALC from Final Agency Decision from certain agencies; Respondent is one such agency, and these rules are binding on this case. Therefore, Appellant must comply with all the above rules in order to perfect his appeal.

Rule 40(B), SCALC states: “Prior to filing a Notice of Appeal from the decision of an administrative law judge, a party must file a motion for rehearing stating with particularity the points supposed to have been overlooked or misapprehended by the court. A motion for rehearing must be filed within ten days of receipt of the order. The opposing party may file a response to the motion within ten (10) days of the filing of the motion. The time for appeal is stayed by a timely motion for rehearing and runs from receipt of an order granting or denying the motion.”<sup>3</sup> (emphasis added)

The ALC Order in this case was filed on November 6, 2024. In Appellant's initial brief, he states “On November 6, 2024, the Hon. S. Phillip Lenski summarily adopted the LETC's factual

<sup>3</sup> It should be noted that this rule was amended in 2021 (three years prior to this ALC final order and appeal) and specifically states, in part, “The 2021 amendment changed the rule to require a motion for rehearing as a prerequisite to filing a notice of appeal from the administrative law judge's decision.”

findings and conclusions, and affirmed the LETC's decision to deny recertification. The Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal from Judge Lenski's decision to this court on November 26, 2024. Appellant admits in his initial brief that he failed to comply with Rule 40(B), SCALC. Additionally, Appellant did not add an ALC motion to reconsider<sup>4</sup>, pursuant to Rule 40(B), SCALC to his designation of matter to be included in the record on appeal, because the motion was never filed.

In the present case, Appellant failed to file a motion to reconsider<sup>5</sup> pursuant to Rule 40(B), SCALC. As such, Appellant has failed to properly perfect his appeal, which Respondent believes is not properly before this Court and Respondent requests that this appeal be dismissed with prejudice.

---

<sup>4</sup> Respondent meant to say motion for rehearing.

<sup>5</sup> Respondent meant to say motion for rehearing

## CONCLUSION

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